RECEIVED

03-04-2015

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2013AP1581 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD E. HOUGHTON, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, REVERSING AN ORDER OF THE WALWORTH COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOHN R. RACE, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Andrew R. Walter Attorney for Defendant-Appellant State Bar No. 1054162

WALTER LAW OFFICES LLC 108 West Court Street Elkhorn, WI 53121 (262) 743-1290 (262) 723-7715 (Fax)

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does the exception to the probable cause standard that permits citizens to be seized on reasonable suspicion for the purpose of investigation apply to non-investigative stops?

The court of appeals held, in accordance with *State v. Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d 1, 594 N.W.2d 412 (Ct. App. 1999), *aff'd by an equally divided court*, 2000 WI 23, 233 Wis. 2d 278, 607 N.W.2d 620 (per curiam), that when an officer acts upon an observation of a violation in his presence rather than a suspicion warranting further investigation, the required standard is probable cause.

2. Should the Court adhere to *State v. Brown*, 2014 WI 69, 355 Wis. 2d 668, and hold that under Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, it is unreasonable for police to seize innocent citizens based on officers' errant interpretations of the laws that they enforce?

This issue was not raised in the court of appeals.

3. Under Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(b), and its prohibition on items that "obstruct the driver's clear view," is the word "obstruct" ambiguous so that an officer could hold an objectively reasonable mistaken belief that it includes all items that come within the space of the windshield, regardless of whether they interfere with the driver's view?

The court of appeals held, without elaboration, that the facts of this case didn't establish probable cause that Houghton was violating that statute. 4. If the Court applies the reasonable suspicion standard to this stop, should it adopt the State's request for a brightline rule that officers always have reasonable suspicion that a driver is violating § 346.88(3)(b) when the officer observes more than one item visible within the space of the windshield?

The court of appeals held that probable cause was required; thus, it didn't address arguments relating to the reasonable suspicion standard.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are appropriate regarding these constitutional issues.

ARGUMENT

In this case, the State asks the Court to overrule its precedents on two separate issues that both involve the seizure of citizens without warrants and without probable cause. The Court should adhere to its prior holdings. First, it should continue to hold that the reasonable suspicion standard, as an exception to the traditional probable cause standard that allows brief detention for the purpose of investigation, is limited to investigative stops. If the Court agrees, it doesn't need to address the remaining issues because the State hasn't argued that the stop at issue in this case was supported by probable cause.

Second, the Court should continue to hold that, under Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution, a lawful seizure cannot be predicated on an officer's mistake of law, because failure to understand the law by those who enforce it is not objectively reasonable. Third, even if the Court overrules itself on both of those issues, the mistake of law in this case wouldn't justify the stop because the mistake was not objectively reasonable. Finally, if the Court adopts the State's proposed expansion of the reasonable suspicion standard, it should still uphold the court of appeals decision because the facts are insufficient to establish reasonable suspicion that Houghton's GPS device and standard-size pine-tree air freshener obstructed his clear view through the windshield. I. The Court should continue to distinguish between investigative stops, which require reasonable suspicion, and non-investigative stops, which require probable cause.

With limited exceptions, the traditional standard for warrantless seizures has been probable cause. *Dunaway v. New York*, 442 U.S. 200, 208 (1979). However, as an exception to the general requirement of probable cause, police can, though they have only a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity, stop a person in order to freeze the situation to allow for further investigation. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 22 (1968). This Court has distinguished these investigative stops, which require reasonable suspicion, from stops that are non-investigative, to which the normal probable cause standard applies. *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶¶ 10-11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569; *State v. Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d 1, 8-9, 594 N.W.2d 412 (Ct. App. 1999).

The Court should continue that approach. First, because the lower reasonable suspicion standard finds its justification in the frequent need for police to freeze a situation while conducting further investigation, to use that standard when the stop is not investigatory would untether the exception from its justification. Second, on balance the rights of citizens to be free from these intrusions outweighs the government's interest in conducting non-investigatory stops on anything less than probable cause, in fact, the government has no legitimate interest in making that type of stop. Third, given the Court's preference for adhering to stare decisis, *see Johnson Controls, Inc. v. Employers Ins. of Wausau*, 2003 WI 108, ¶ 94, 264 Wis. 2d 60, 665 N.W.2d 257, there is no reason to overrule *Popke* since there have been no major shifts in the law and the distinction between investigative and non-investigative stops is coherent and easy to grasp. A. As a limited exception to the traditional probable cause standard, the reasonable suspicion standard must continue to be narrowly confined to its permissible purpose and the circumstances which justified it.

The reasonable suspicion standard for stops pursuant to *Terry* is just a narrow exception to the long-established probable cause standard. *Dunaway*, 442 U.S. at 208. The permissible purpose of such a stop, widely known as an investigative detention, is to investigate. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 22. Thus, the reasonable suspicion standard applies to investigative stops, whereas non-investigative stops require probable cause. *See Popke*, 317 Wis. 2d 118, ¶¶ 10-13, 22-23 (applying probable cause standard to observed traffic violation and reasonable suspicion standard to legal but suspicious driving).

The traditional rule is that all seizures require probable cause. *Dunaway*, 442 U.S. at 208; *Florida v. Royer*, 460 U.S. 491, 499 (1983) ("*Terry* and its progeny nevertheless created only limited exceptions to the general rule that seizures of the person require probable cause to arrest."). That standard has deep roots in our history. *Henry v. United States*, 361 U.S. 98, 100 (1959). The Fourth Amendment is a product, in large part, of the colonist's hostility to seizures based on mere suspicion. *Id.* The probable cause standard "reflects the benefit of extensive experience accommodating the factors relevant to the 'reasonableness' requirement of the Fourth Amendment, and provides the relative simplicity and clarity necessary to the implementation of a workable rule." *Dunaway*, 442 U.S. at 213.

The exception that permits brief investigative seizures on reasonable suspicion is narrowly confined to the circumstances that justified the exception in the first place. Those circumstances, and the justification for the exception, were the frequent need for police, though lacking probable cause, to temporarily freeze a situation for further investigation aimed at confirming or dispelling their suspicions. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 22 (stating that police may approach a person "for purposes of investigating possibly criminal behavior"); *State v. Guzy*, 139 Wis. 2d 663, 676, 407 N.W.2d 548 (1987) (justifying what the Court calls "investigative stops" by the need to temporarily freeze the situation to conduct that investigation). It follows then, that investigative detentions must in fact be investigative, i.e., there must be something to investigate. *Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d at 8-9. To expand the exception beyond investigative stops would untether the exception from the circumstances that justified its adoption.

When an officer stops someone to write a ticket or to arrest based on a violation that the officer observes, there is no need for further investigation; thus, the normal probable cause standard applies. *Id. Longcore* applied the probable cause standard when an officer stopped a vehicle upon observing a plastic window covering, which the officer believed to be an equipment violation. *Id.* The court noted that this wasn't an investigative stop; the officer acted upon an observed violation rather than a suspicion that warranted further investigation. *Id.*

This Court makes the distinction between investigative and non-investigative stops. In *Popke*, an officer conducted a traffic stop after seeing a car cross the center line and repeatedly weave within its own lane. 317 Wis. 2d 118, ¶¶ 3-5. The Court judged the officer's suspicion of OWI under the reasonable suspicion standard, but it judged his observation of a left-of-center violation under the probable cause standard. *Id.*, ¶ 12, 22. Similarly, in *State v. Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675,

the Court applied the probable cause standard to an officer's observation of a traffic violation, *id.*, ¶ 46, but upheld the stop based on the officer's reasonable suspicion of OWI, *id.*, ¶ 56. The Court made a similar distinction in *State v. Brown*, 2014 WI 69, ¶¶ 20-21, 355 Wis. 2d 668, 850 N.W.2d 66.

This distinction between investigative and noninvestigative stops is easy for police to follow. If they have a suspicion that warrants further investigation, the reasonable suspicion standard applies. *Longcore*, 226 Wis. 2d at 8-9. If they're stopping just to ticket or arrest, probable cause is required. *Id.* This principle applies equally to stops on the sidewalk as to traffic stops; there is no reason to distinguish between traffic stops and stops in other circumstances. To treat traffic stops different from other stops would only create another set of rules for police officers and courts to interpret.

In addition, limiting the exception to investigative stops meshes with the requirement that investigative detentions last no longer than necessary to confirm or dispel the officer's suspicion. *See Royer*, 460 U.S. at 500. This requirement could never be fulfilled by an officer who will not conduct any further investigation. In sum, the reasonable suspicion standard only applies to investigative stops.

B. The right of citizens to be free from intrusion outweighs the State's non-existent interest in conducting noninvestigative stops in the absence of probable cause.

The State asks the Court to abandon the distinction between investigative and non-investigative stops and establish a bright-line rule that reasonable suspicion justifies all traffic stops. State's Brief at 12-13. Determining whether to expand an exception to the probable cause standard requires application of a balancing test. The balancing test weights the importance of the government interest involved against the nature and extent of the intrusion upon the individual's Fourth Amendment rights. *United States v. Place*, 462 U.S. 696, 704 (1983). On this issue, that balance supports the continued use of the probable cause standard for non-investigative stops.

When the facts don't add up to probable cause, and the police will make no further investigation, the State has no legitimate interest in making a stop. If the facts aren't sufficient to establish probable cause, they're also insufficient to establish guilt. If there is no further investigation, the person will not be convicted. The State has no legitimate interest in stopping people just to write citations that can't result in convictions.

Of course, those kinds of stops occasionally turn up evidence of other violations. But that is a byproduct rather than a legitimate goal to pursue. To say that the State has a legitimate interest in these stops is to condone seizures for offenses for which guilt can't be proven as a ruse to fish for evidence of other offenses.

Given the lack of legitimate State interest, even a minimal invasion of privacy and liberty is unjustifiable. Traffic stops are a "major interference in the lives of the [vehicle's] occupants." *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443, 479 (1971). They involve often unsettling shows of authority, restrict free movement, are inconvenient, consume time, and may create substantial anxiety, *Delaware v. Prouse*, 440 U.S. 648, 657 (1979). Because the State has no legitimate interest in conducting non-investigative stops with less than probable cause, these intrusions aren't justified.

C. The doctrine of stare decisis further supports adherence to the *Popke* line of cases.

The most important reason to adhere to *Popke* is that the Court was right to distinguish between investigative and non-investigative stops. However, the importance of stare decisis reinforces the need to adhere to that precedent. The Court follows the doctrine of stare decisis scrupulously. *Johnson Controls*, 264 Wis. 2d 60, ¶ 94.

Departure from precedent demands special justification. *Id.* In *Johnson Controls,* the Court explained the demanding standards which may justify departing from precedent. *Id.*, ¶¶ 98-99. The State relies on two of those criteria. State's Brief at 6. It argues that the decisions have become detrimental to coherence and consistency in the law, and that the decisions are unworkable in practice. *Id.*

As to the first of those criteria, it is hard to see how the Court's 2009 decision in *Popke* has created incoherence or inconsistency. *Popke* is entirely consistent with the Supreme Court's statement that probable cause is the normal standard for traffic stops, *Whren v. United States*, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996). It's also consistent with the probable cause standard that is generally the minimum requirement for warrantless seizures and searches in other contexts. *Dunaway*, 442 U.S. at 208.

Moreover, the *Popke* approach is eminently workable. The simple distinction is between investigative and non-investigative stops. And it has the benefit of being equally applicable in all contexts. By contrast, the State's approach creates more confusion by carving out a different set of rules for traffic stops. Therefore, the Court should decline to overrule *Popke* and its progeny, and should hold that probable cause is required for noninvestigative stops regardless of whether the person seized is in traffic.

II. The Court should adhere to its recent holding that Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution prohibits stops based on an officer's errant interpretation of a statute.

Less than one year ago this Court joined the overwhelming majority of courts that have held that a lawful stop cannot be predicated on a mistake of law. *State v. Brown*, 2014 WI 69, ¶¶ 22-25, 355 Wis. 2d 668, 850 N.W.2d 66. Shortly thereafter, the United States Supreme Court departed from this consensus by holding that, under the Fourth Amendment, an officer's "objectively reasonable" mistake of law can give rise to the reasonable suspicion necessary to conduct a traffic stop. *Heien v. North Carolina*, 135 S.Ct. 530 (2014). This Court's holding in *Brown* is correct, and it should adhere to its interpretation of Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution.

First, *Brown* is in line with over a century of intolerance to police mistakes about the laws they enforce. Second, it is reasonable to expect that officers, in combination with their employers and other law enforcement entities, will ensure that the officers understand the law. Third, authorizing these stops would give police unfettered discretion to seize innocent citizens. Fourth, there is a reduced need to adhere to Fourth Amendment jurisprudence on this unique issue because, unlike most other Fourth Amendment rulings, *Heien* presents a standard by which to judge officer mistakes rather than a standard to guide their conduct.

A. *Brown* is backed by a long tradition of prohibiting stops based on an officer's misinterpretation of the law.

Brown accords not only with most modern courts, but also with over a century of intolerance to police mistakes of law. Under the common law, no right was "more carefully guarded...than the right of every individual to the possession and control of his own person, free from all restraint or interference of others, unless by clear and unquestionable authority of law." Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. at 9 (emphasis added) (quoting Union Pac. R. Co. v. Botsford, 141 U.S. 250, 251, 11 S.Ct. 1000, 1001, 35 L.Ed. 734 (1891). Thus, although the common law excused seizures based on an officer's reasonable mistake of fact, it held officers liable for seizures based on mistakes of law.

The first Restatement of Torts summarized the rule: "an officer is not privileged to arrest another whom he reasonably suspects of having committed an act which the officer, through a mistake of law reasonable in one of his position, believes to be a common law felony." Restatement of Torts § 121 cmt. i (1934). The common law rejected any exception for cases involving an ambiguous statute even when courts interpreted the law contrary to the officer's view only after the seizure. Id. In an example of the common law's intolerance for such seizures, the Michigan Supreme Court said "an officer of justice is bound to know what the law is, and if the facts on which he proceeds, if true, would not justify action under the law, he is a wrong-doer." Malcolmson v. Scott, 23 N.W. 166 (Mich. 1885). English common law also forbade officers from making arrests based on mistakes of law. See, e.g., Carratt v. Morley, (1841), 113 Eng. Rep. 1036 (holding an officer liable for arrest based on a mistake regarding jurisdiction).

That remains the consensus among modern courts. As this Court noted in *Brown*, that a stop can't be predicated on an officer's mistake of law is the view of an overwhelming majority of courts. *Brown*, 355 Wis. 2d 668, ¶¶ 23-25 (listing the federal and state courts in this majority). *But see id.*, ¶ 23 n. 10 and ¶ 25 n. 11 (listing the three federal circuit courts and five state courts in the minority). In sum, *Brown* is supported by both historical and modern consensus regarding whether citizens can lawfully be subjected to seizures based on an officer's mistake of law.

B. It is reasonable to expect that officers and the law enforcement system will ensure that officers understand the laws that they enforce.

The Court's reasoning in *Brown* is equally valid today. The standard for investigative stops is objectively reasonable suspicion. *Brown*, 355 Wis. 2d 668, ¶ 24. Failure to understand the law by those who enforce it is not objectively reasonable. *United States v. Tibbetts*, 396 F.3d 1132, 1138 (10th Cir. 2005). Police departments, and the entire law enforcement system, have a duty to ensure that officers understand the laws they enforce. *See Brown*, 355 Wis. 2d 669, ¶ 24. Overruling *Brown* would remove their incentive to do so.

It's reasonable to expect that officers know the laws they enforce. *Tibbetts*, 396 F.3d at 1138 ("[F]ailure to understand the law by the very person charged with enforcing it is not objectively reasonable."); *see also Brown*, 355 Wis. 2d 668, ¶ 24 ("An officer cannot have a reasonable belief that a violation of the law occurred when the acts to which an officer points as supporting probable cause are not prohibited by law.") (quoting *United States v. McDonald*, 453 F.3d 958, 961 (7th Cir. 2006)). Those that excuse these stops argue that the law is too complex for officers to master, *see, e.g., United States v. Sanders*, 196 F.3d 910, 913 (8th Cir. 1999), but this "rests on the unacceptable premise that those entrusted to enforce the law need not know and follow its actual proscriptions." Wayne A. Logan, *Police Mistakes of Law*, 61 Emory L.J. 69, 106 (2011). Additionally, officers don't act as individual entities; they are employed by police departments and are part of the law enforcement system that includes their departments, the Department of Justice, the State Patrol, district attorneys, and other law enforcement entities. So they aren't expected to interpret the law by themselves.

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