STATE OF WISCONSIN

SUPREME COURT

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT OF WISCONSIN

RECEIVED

02-12-2015

No. 2013AP1581-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

RICHARD E. HOUGHTON, JR.,

Defendant-Appellant.

REVIEW OF A DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS, DISTRICT II, REVERSING AN ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR WALWORTH COUNTY, JOHN R. RACE, JUDGE.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

TIFFANY M. WINTER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1065853

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner

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

ARGUMENT

In the sections below, the State asks this Court to overrule *Longcore* and to narrowly modify *Popke, Anagnos,* and *Brown.*⁴ The State is mindful that this Court generally "adheres to stare decisis to maintain confidence in the reliability of court decisions, promote evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of legal principles, and contribute to the actual and perceived integrity of the Wisconsin judiciary." *Dairyland Greyhound Park, Inc. v. Doyle,* 2006 WI 107, ¶ 93, 295 Wis. 2d 1, 719 N.W.2d 408 (citation omitted). Thus, this Court does not overturn precedent unless there is a strong justification to do so. *State v. Outagamie County Board of Adjustment,* 2001 WI 78, ¶ 29, 244 Wis. 2d 613, 628 N.W.2d 376 (citing *City of Akron v. Akron Ctr. for Reprod. Health, Inc.,* 462 U.S. 416, 420 (1983)).

⁴ State v. Popke, 2009 WI 37, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569; State v. Anagnos, 2012 WI 64, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675.

Despite this general rule, this Court has recognized that "[s]tare decisis is neither a straightjacket nor an immutable rule." *Johnson Controls v. Employers Ins. of Wausau*, 2003 WI 108, ¶ 100, 264 Wis. 2d 60, 665 N.W.2d 257. There are several criteria for assessing whether to depart from precedent: (1) changes or developments in the law that undermine the rationale of the prior decision; (2) the need to make a decision correspond to newly ascertained facts; (3) the decision has become detrimental to coherence and consistency in the law; (4) the decision is unsound in principle; and (5) the decision is unworkable in practice. *Johnson Controls*, 264 Wis. 2d 60, ¶¶ 98-99.

This case concerns the first and the third criteria. First, the State is asking this Court to declare a single standard by which to judge the reasonableness of a traffic stop. As Fourth Amendment jurisprudence has developed and evolved, it is becoming increasingly apparent that traffic stops are more akin to *Terry* stops, and therefore, the reasonableness of a traffic stop should rest on whether the officer had a reasonable and articulable suspicion that a traffic or criminal violation has been or will be committed. In declaring that reasonable suspicion is the single standard by which to judge the reasonableness of a traffic stop, this Court will need to narrowly modify Popke, Anagnos, and Brown. The Longcore decision is also impacted. However, since the State is asking this Court to also declare that a mistake of law is not fatal to whether an officer has a reasonable and articulable suspicion that a traffic or criminal violation has been or will be committed, Longcore should be overruled.

Longcore should be overruled to maintain consistency in interpreting the protections of Article I, § 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution as analogous to the protections afforded by the Fourth Amendment of the Constitution of the United States. The Supreme Court of the United States recently interpreted the Fourth Amendment and concluded that a mistake of law is not fatal to the analysis of whether an officer had a reasonable and articulable suspicion to conduct a traffic stop. *Heien*, 135 S.Ct. at 536-39. This Court should now conclude the same, overruling *Longcore* and narrowly modifying *Brown*.

I. Wisconsin Stat. § 346.88(3)(b) prohibits any obstruction to the driver's clear view through the front windshield.

This issue presents a question of statutory interpretation. "[S]tatutory interpretation 'begins with the language of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain, we ordinarily stop the inquiry." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (quoting *Seider v. O'Connell*, 2000 WI 76, ¶ 43, 236 Wis. 2d 211, 612 N.W.2d 659; additional citations omitted). In reviewing the statutory language, the language is given its ordinary meaning unless technically or specially defined. *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 45.

The language of § 346.88(3)(b) is clear, unambiguous, and reads:

No person shall drive any motor vehicle upon a highway with any object so placed or suspended in or upon the vehicle so as to obstruct the driver's clear view through the front windshield.

The area of view that *any* object cannot obstruct is the clear view through the windshield, not just the driver's immediate or normal field of vision. The statute does not require that the obstruction be material or substantial, rather the statute requires that there be no obstruction.

This plain language interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(b) is consistent with the rest of the statute. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, \P 49 ("[i]t is certainly not inconsistent with the plain-meaning rule to consider the intrinsic context in which statutory language is used"). Specifically, when read in concert with Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(a), "clear view through the front windshield" must be read to encompass all glass space, not just the driver's immediate field of vision. Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(a) reads in part:

No person shall drive any motor vehicle with any sign, poster or other nontransparent material upon the front windshield, front side wings, side windows in the driver's compartment or rear window of such vehicle other than a certificate or other sticker issued by order of a governmental agency.

In Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(a) nothing that is nontransparent may be placed on the glass itself, with the limited exception of "certificate[s] or sticker[s] issued by order of a government agency." It then follows that the plain reading of § 346.88(3)(b), which applies to objects placed within the vehicle, not just on the glass itself, similarly prohibits any object from obstructing the view through any portion of the front windshield. Therefore, the court of appeals erred when it determined that a GPS device and an air freshener, obstructing the view through the front windshield, were insufficient to establish a violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(b).

While it is true that the plain language of Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(b) may subject "zillions" of vehicles to valid traffic stops, that fact alone does not mean that an officer cannot stop a vehicle for an observed violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(b). See Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 818-19 (1996) (the fact that the vast majority of people could be subjected to a valid traffic stop is not a basis upon which a court could conclude that a particular stop was unreasonable). As a practical matter, "zillions" of vehicles are subject to valid traffic stops very day. For example, it is common for most drivers to travel in excess of the speed limit on any given roadway. One could go so far as to conclude that posted speed limits are perceived by the majority of drivers as the suggested minimum speed one should drive in normal conditions. The fact that nearly everyone exceeds the speed limit does not mean that an officer cannot lawfully stop someone for exceeding the speed limit. Nor does it mean that an officer must observe a vehicle traveling far in excess of the speed limit before a lawful traffic stop can be conducted.

In this case, the court of appeals went beyond the plain language of the statute to invalidate the stop. This Court should unequivocally establish that the current language of Wis. Stat. § 346.88(3)(b) requires that the clear view through the entire front windshield be free from any non-excepted obstruction, and an officer may reasonably stop a vehicle upon observation of an nonexcepted obstruction.

II. An officer may stop a vehicle when the officer has a reasonable suspicion that the operator is violating a traffic law.

Whether an officer may stop a vehicle based on a reasonable suspicion that the operator is violating a traffic law is a question of constitutional law subject to de novo review. Currently, under Wisconsin law, there is a dual standard for traffic stops. Some stops are analyzed under a probable cause standard, while others are analyzed under a reasonable suspicion standard. It is clear that probable cause is sufficient for a traffic stop; however, Fourth Amendment jurisprudence does not establish that probable cause is necessary to stop a vehicle for an observed traffic violation. See 4 Wayne R. LaFave, Search and Seizure, § 9.3(a) at 478 (5th ed. 2012) (citing United States v. Callarman, 273 F.3d 1284 (10th Cir. 2001); United States v. Delfin-Colina, 464 F.3d 392 (3rd Cir. 2006)). This Court should take this opportunity to explicitly conclude that probable cause is not required and a traffic stop is lawful if the law enforcement officer had a reasonable and articulable suspicion that a traffic or criminal violation has been or will be committed.

A. Reasonable suspicion is the appropriate standard by which to judge the reasonableness of a traffic stop.

Generally, a brief intrusion, like a traffic stop, is reasonable if the officer has "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion." *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968) (footnote omitted). *See also Knowles v. Iowa*, 525 U.S. 113, 117 (1998) ("A routine traffic stop ... is a relatively brief encounter and 'is more analogous to a socalled "*Terry* stop" ... than to a formal arrest."") (quoting *Berkemer v. McCarty*, 468 U.S. 420, 439 (1984)).

Previously, Wisconsin law was in accord with the conclusion that reasonable suspicion is the standard upon which to judge whether an officer complied with the demands of the Fourth Amendment in conducting a traffic stop. *See State v. Griffin*, 183 Wis. 2d 327, 329-31, 515 N.W.2d 535 (Ct. App. 1994) (the reasonable suspicion standard applies to stops based on an observed license plate violation); *State v. Krier*, 165 Wis. 2d 673, 678, 478 N.W.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1991) (a stop can be based on reasonable suspicion of either a crime or a non-criminal traffic violation).

However, in response to the Supreme Court of the United States' decision in *Whren*, Wisconsin's courts began to question whether reasonable suspicion was the appropriate standard. In *Whren*, the Supreme Court stated that "the decision to stop an automobile is reasonable where the police have *probable cause* to believe that a traffic violation has occurred." *Whren*, 517 U.S. at 810 (emphasis added). This dictum raised some doubts as to whether the *Terry* standard, which had been the acceptable standard for years, was still the appropriate standard. *Delfin-Colina*, 464 F.3d at 396. Post *Whren*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals decided *Gaulrapp* and concluded that a traffic stop is justified "if the officers have probable cause to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, . . . or have grounds to reasonably suspect a violation has been or will be committed." *State v. Gaulrapp*, 207 Wis. 2d 600, 605, 558 N.W.2d 696 (Ct. App. 1996).

This was the beginning of Wisconsin's probable cause/reasonable suspicion dichotomy. That dichotomy was addressed by the court of appeals in *Longcore*. In *Longcore*, the court of appeals established that the reasonable suspicion standard is applicable to a traffic stop only if further investigation is needed. Longcore, 226 Wis. 2d at 8-9. If an officer initiates a traffic stop based on the observation of a traffic violation committed in the officer's presence, the officer must have probable cause to make the stop. *Id.* Formulated another way: "a vehicle stop based solely on offenses not 'investigatable' cannot be justified by a mere reasonable suspicion, because the purposes of a Terry stop do not existmaintaining the *status quo* while investigating is inapplicable where there is nothing further to investigate." Commonwealth v. Chase, 960 A.2d 108, 116 (Pa. 2008).

Roughly three and a half years after *Longcore*, the court of appeals decided *State v. Colstad*, 2003 WI App 25, ¶¶ 10-13, 260 Wis. 2d 406, 659 N.W.2d 394. In *Colstad*, the court rejected the conclusion that there is a dual standard by which to judge the reasonableness of a traffic stop. *Id.* ¶¶ 10-13. The court determined

that it was bound to follow its own precedent in *Griffin* and concluded that reasonable suspicion is the appropriate standard. *Colstad*, 260 Wis. 2d 406, ¶ 13. A few years later, in *Post*, this Court reiterated that reasonable suspicion is the standard to be applied to investigatory stops. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶¶ 9-12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. *Post* did not address, however, if all traffic stops are investigatory.

Two years after *Post*, this Court concluded in *Popke* that probable cause applies to stops based on observed traffic violations and reasonable suspicion applies to stops based on suspected criminal conduct and suspected traffic violations. State v. Popke, 2009 WI 37, ¶¶ 10-11, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. A similar dual standard was noted and discussed in *State v. Anagnos*, 2012 WI 64, ¶¶ 21, 47-48, 341 Wis. 2d 576, 815 N.W.2d 675. In Anagnos, the court concluded that a lawful stop of an observed violation of Wis. Stat. § 346.15 would require probable cause, but the stop could also be upheld on grounds that there was reasonable suspicion to investigate Anagnos's odd driving behavior even though that behavior did not rise to probable cause to believe that an actual traffic violation had occurred. Id. ¶¶ 44-47. More recently, in Brown, the court concluded that a traffic stop must be supported by probable cause or reasonable suspicion. Brown, 355 Wis. 2d 668, ¶ 20. The *Brown* decision did not distinguish between when a traffic stop must be based on probable cause and when a traffic stop can be based on reasonable suspicion.⁵ Brown, 355 Wis. 2d 668, ¶¶ 15, 20 ("a stop can be based on either probable cause or reasonable suspicion"). If either standard truly applies to a traffic stop, then there is no reason to continue to promulgate the probable cause standard if

⁵ The State notes that the *Brown* decision discusses reasonable suspicion and probable cause in the context of criminal behavior. *Brown*, 355 Wis. 2d 668, ¶ 20. That appears to be the product of the quotations chosen for the opinion, and not an indication that criminal behavior has to be suspected for a traffic stop to be lawful. That, of course, cannot be the case as many rules of the road are not crimes. *See* Wis. Stat. § 939.12 (A crime is conduct "punishable by fine or imprisonment or both. Conduct punishable only by a forfeiture is not a crime.").

traffic stops are lawful based on the less stringent reasonable suspicion standard.

Wisconsin is not unique in its application of *Whren*. For example, the North Carolina courts "[i]n the years since *Whren*, . . . occasionally discussed whether a traffic stop was constitutional in terms of probable cause." *State v. Styles*, 665 S.E.2d 438, 440 (N.C. 2008).⁶ Like in Wisconsin, in North Carolina, "a distinction [] developed . . . by which [the courts] required probable cause for traffic stops made on the basis of a readily observed traffic violation, but reasonable suspicion for stops based on an officer's mere *suspicion* that a traffic violation is being committed." *Id.* (quotations omitted).⁷ Ultimately, the Supreme Court of North Carolina, relying on the Third Circuit's analysis in *Delfin-Colina*, concluded that "reasonable suspicion is the necessary standard for traffic stops, regardless of whether the traffic violation was readily observed or merely suspected." *Id.*⁸ The State is now asking this Court to do the same.

Reasonable suspicion will satisfy the demands of the Fourth Amendment so long as the government's interests outweigh the individual's interest in being free from governmental intrusion. As explained in *United States v. Place:*

The exception to the probable-cause requirement for limited seizures of the person recognized in *Terry* and its progeny rests on a balancing of the competing interests to determine the reasonableness of the type of seizure involved within the meaning of "the Fourth Amendment's general proscription

⁷ In other jurisdictions it is hard to determine if there really are two separate standards, because in the context of observed traffic violations, both standards are met and courts have not had to confront the question head-on. 4 LaFave, *Search and Seizure*, § 9.3(a) at 475-76.

⁸ See also, e.g., United States v. Lopez-Soto, 205 F.3d 1101, 1104-05 (9th Cir. 2000) (collecting federal cases).

⁶ See also, e.g., United States v. Salas, 756 F.3d 1196, 1200-01 (10th Cir. 2014).

against unreasonable searches and seizures." . . . We must balance the nature and quality of the intrusion on the individual's Fourth Amendment interests against the importance of the governmental interests alleged to justify the intrusion. When the nature and extent of the detention are minimally intrusive of the individual's Fourth Amendment interests, the opposing law enforcement interests can support a seizure based on less than probable cause.

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